# REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

# **CONTENTS**

	Page(s)
Company information	2
Strategic Report	3 - 7
Directors' Report	8 - 10
Independent Auditors' Report	11 - 13
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income	14
Consolidated Balance Sheet	15
Company Balance Sheet	16
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement	17
Company Cash Flow Statement	18
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	19
Company Statement of Changes in Equity	20
Notes to the Financial Statements	21 - 46

# **COMPANY INFORMATION**

**Directors** M Brown

W G Devanney

R G Jack

D M Jordan (appointed 2 April 2024)

Company number 10494768

Registered office Unit 620 Wharfedale Road

Winnersh Wokingham Berkshire RG41 5TP

Independent Auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

7 More London Riverside

London SE1 2RT

# STRATEGIC REPORT

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The directors present the Strategic Report for Readypower Group Limited (the "company") and its subsidiary undertakings (the "Group") for the year ended 31 December 2023.

#### **Review of business**

The Group delivered another strong year with sales of £77.8 million (9 months to December 2022: £45.8 million), EBITDA of £12.4 million (9 months to December 2022: £7.9 million) and operating profit of £4.1 million (9 months to December 2022: £3.9 million). The Group was impacted by the continued turbulence in the market due to the increased cost of supply and fuel due to inflationary pressures within the UK economy and the impact of strike action within the Rail Industry.

The Group continued its strategy of investment in capital assets by adding significant capability and more environmentally friendly assets to its fleet during the year, with £4.3 million (9 months to December 2022: £3.3 million) spent on Road Rail Vehicles (RRVs), RRV upgrades and associated equipment and attachments.

The Group made 3 acquisitions during the year:

- In June 2023, the Group acquired Force One Limited, a specialist provider of suction excavation services and equipment, predominately to the road and rail industries. The demand for excavation around buried services is increasing and this acquisition allows Readypower to capitalize on these growing opportunities, while also diversifying the Group's offering into adjacent UK infrastructure markets.
- In July 2023, the Group acquired Jamie-Lee Cooper Limited, the owner of the Scottish depot in Blantyre that
  we leased. This purchase has secured this excellent located depot for our future Scottish division and we have
  started the planning application to build new offices on that site, and once complete co-locate all Group
  companies operating in Scotland at that site.
- In October 2023, the Group acquired Total Rail Solutions Limited, a specialist provider of rail infrastructure services and equipment. This acquisition further strengthens the Group's position within the highly regulated UK rail industry.

Continuing our drive to improve efficiency, provide cost-effective solutions and reduce environmental impact for our customers, as of December 2023 57% (9 months to December 2022: 48%) of our RRV fleet has environmentally friendly Tier 4 or 5 engines.

# Key performance indicators

The Group's key financial performance indicators at the end of the year/period were:

	Year to 31 December 2023	9 months to 31 December 2022
Turnover	£77.8 million	£45.8 million
EBITDA	£12.4 million	£7.9 million
Operating profit	£4.1 million	£3.9 million
	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
Net assets	£15.1 million	£15.3 million
Rail PPS reliability %	99.4%	99.4%

# STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED) FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

### Key performance indicators (continued)

- a. Turnover is defined as revenue from services provided in the normal course of business.
- b. Operating profit is defined as turnover less cost of sales and administrative expenses as disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on page 14.
- c. EBITDA is defined as operating profit plus depreciation, amortisation, and exceptional items.
- d. Rail PPS reliability % is defined by Network Rail as the percentage of shifts completed over a 26-week period machines operated without failure. A score greater than 99% is regarded as gold standard.

Management uses EBITDA to assess the underlying performance of the business. During the year, management continued to invest in people, training, assets, systems and property to position the Group for future growth.

#### **Future developments**

The Group continues its strategy of looking for new opportunities within regulated infrastructure markets, with a focus on rail, to further expand its presence. The Group is reviewing the potential of diversifying into overseas markets including assessing its rail capability in Canada.

Health and Safety is fundamental to the Group, and we continue to investigate ways that we can improve this for our staff, suppliers, and customers.

We believe that despite the uncertain market conditions with the end of Network Rail's control period 6 in March 2024, the start of control period 7 in April 2024, and the change in passenger travel patterns, the Group is in an extremely strong position with our customer-focused approach, excellent management team, strong infrastructure, well invested asset-base and on-going investment program to benefit from an upturn in the market as the UK government's investment in infrastructure accelerates; whilst the Group has a strong financial position and management team, supported by our new owners, to withstand any potential market fluctuations.

### Financial risk management

Financial risks to the Group include:

- Liquidity risk: The Group monitors operational and financial performance closely and has an extremely strong
  relationship with our investors. The directors monitor cash flow projections to ensure the Group has sufficient
  funds to meet its working capital requirements and fund its capital investment program.
- Credit risk: The Group has no external bank debt, though has an unsecured interest-bearing inter-Group loan
  with The Great Rolling Stock Company Plc. The directors monitor cash flow projections closely on a regular
  basis.
- Inflationary pressures: The Group has been impacted by the increased cost of fuel and haulage within the UK
  market together with labour cost increases. The Group has responded by absorbing some of the cost increases
  whilst also reviewing and changing as appropriate our charge-out rates and we continue to monitor rates and
  costs closely.

# Principal risk and uncertainties:

The principal risks and uncertainties that affect the business include:

- Customer relationships: The Group maintains strong relationships with each of its key customers and has
  established credit control parameters. Appropriate credit terms are agreed with all customers, and these are
  closely managed.
- Contract risk: The Group conducts significant elements of its business under customer contract and framework
  agreements, which include performance delivery and other specific conditions. The key to the management of
  contract risk is robust operational procedures and strong customer service, supported by effective contractual,
  operational, and financial management. Rigorous processes are in place across the Group to ensure that
  operational qualitive and quantitative parameters are met. Main Board approval is required for material
  contracts and framework agreements.

# STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED) FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

## Principal risk and uncertainties(continued)

The effect of legislation or other regulatory requirements: The Group operates in a highly regulated environment
and takes its duties and responsibilities extremely seriously. Health and Safety and Compliance are at the core
of everything the Group does.

# Key areas of strategic development and performance of the business include:

- Sales and Marketing: New and replacement business is being won regularly; new markets have been
  developed in line with the Group's strategy of focusing on providing specialist rail infrastructure services and
  other regulated infrastructure services. Customer relationships are key to the business.
- Capital Investment Program: The Group's capital investment program is to ensure it has the most effective and efficient fleet of Road Rail Vehicles, Suction Excavator Equipment and Specialist Attachments in the UK to support its customers' needs whilst ensuring it maintains the fleet to the highest possible standard.
- Facilities: The Group has an operational hub in each of the five Network Rail regions and is well positioned to serve its customers. The Group will continue to look for new satellite facilities as needed, to further support its customers' needs and geographical expansion.
- People: Investment in people is one of the Group's key assets. Investing in training and significantly strengthening our management, operational, sales and support staff, will enable the Group to fulfil its strategic objectives.
- System and Processes: The Group has invested in a business transformation project to significantly enhance its service offering and streamline its operations.
- Competitive advantage: The Group operates in a highly competitive market focusing on areas where it has a competitive advantage. As a result, the Group is well positioned for long-term growth.

#### Section 172(1) statement

Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 requires each director in the way he or she considers, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the company for the benefit of its members as a whole and, in doing so, to have regard (amongst other matters) to:

- the likely consequences of any decision in the long term.
- · the interests of the company's employees.
- the need to foster the company's business relationships with suppliers, customers, and others.
- the impact of the company's operations on the community and the environment.
- · the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and
- the need to act fairly as between members of the company.

Each director, on joining the Board, is made aware of his or her obligations. A clear governance structure is in place which, together with the Group's delegation of authority policy ensures that business decisions are made by the appropriate groups.

# STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED) FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

### Section 172(1) statement (continued)

The key stakeholders are:

Our suppliers and partners

Stakeholder Why they are important:

Our investors and shareholders 
Our shareholders are the providers of capital without who support our growth

and investment for future success.

Our people Our employees play a vital role in delivering the service experience our clients

demand.

Our clients Our clients are central to our success and include Network Rail, the principal

contractors operating within the UK and several privately owned companies. We are focussed on delivering outstanding customer service to our clients. Our suppliers and partners are key to our success and we work closely with

them to ensure we have excellent product and services.

The Board is updated monthly on any significant item pertaining to these stakeholder groups.

The primary purpose of the Board is: to provide strategic oversight to the Group through challenging the Executive team to ensure that the business plans are articulated and executed in a manner consistent with the overall vision of the organisation; and to provide strategies, advice, and guidance to help the Executive team to mitigate risks, and to navigate through changes in the business environment in which the organisation operates. The following section summarises how the Directors have fulfilled these duties in accordance with section 172(1):

## Our purpose, strategy and considerations of long-term decision making

One of the primary focuses of the Board is to ensure the Group achieves its purpose and strategy of providing outstanding customer service to our client base, while investing in fleet, people, facilities and systems. At our regular monthly management meetings, our key considerations include health and safety, our strategy and how our business should evolve to react to changing market conditions and fulfilling the needs of our client base.

As a result of these deliberations, the Board have worked with the Group to make a number of Group-wide strategic moves in the year including continued investment in capital assets and acquisitions together with the review of potential territories.

# Engagement with employees

The Group's policy is to consult and discuss with employees, through a variety of media including staff meetings, intranet, social media, TV monitors, toolbox talks and regular departmental meetings, matters likely to affect employees' interests. The directors engage directly with senior managers throughout the business through regular strategic reviews and monthly meetings to ensure the supply of information about matters of concern to employees. This information is given through information bulletins and reports which seek to achieve a common awareness on the part of all employees of the financial and economic factors affecting the Group's performance. Feedback from managers and employees is given directly in these meetings, and employee involvement is encouraged in all areas of the business since achieving common awareness across all employees of the factors that drive the Group's performance plays a key role in its financial results.

Employee engagement and feedback is also vital in assisting the directors in making principal strategic decisions such as hiring of new staff, capital expenditure of new machinery, opening of new facilities, and improving the business' systems and processes.

The health and safety of our employees is one of our primary considerations in the way we do business.

# STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED) FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

# Section 172(1) statement (continued)

# Engaging with our clients and suppliers

Our customers consist of some of the industry's largest tier 1 contractors. Members of the Board and senior management team regularly engage with our customers to ensure high service levels are always maintained, and they request feedback on areas that can be improved which then drives the Board's decision-making process on investment in machinery and processes.

There is no key dependency on any one provider. The Board has ensured the business has put in place a vendor onboarding process, to ensure our suppliers comply with our standards, such as those relating to modern slavery and data protection and as part of our contracting process, we include specific prohibitions outlining our policies and values. Regular engagement with our suppliers is also vital in the development of new technology.

### Impact on the environment

The Group owns and operates a national fleet of railway and road construction plant equipment supported by a transport fleet and external haulage. Predominantly these machines use diesel engines. We are very conscious of our environmental footprint and look to engage the most sustainable and environmentally friendly operating model.

The Board holds regular investment program reviews of our fleet with the strategic aim of acquiring the latest and most environmentally friendly engines with efficient operational capability. We actively work with our suppliers to develop new RRVs and specialist equipment with higher output which reduces the numbers of machines needed to deliver work, and repurposing older machines to increase their effective useful life. Presently there is not an economically or effective alternative to diesel engines for machines and lorries, however we will continue to explore this with our suppliers and industry bodies as the technology evolves.

The Board's intention is to renew our haulage fleet with the latest technology every 4-5 years. We use trailers with fold down ramps to lessen the drag effect and get better miles per gallon from our fleet.

We provide fully electric cars as an option to our management teams and self-charging hybrid vans for our operational staff. These will roll out further as the technology develops particularly regarding commercial vehicles. Our offices and workshops use energy efficient lighting, and we have centralised printing, recycling and waste disposal points. We use electronic forms and packs, further reducing paper usage, whilst we monitor and actively try to reduce our electronic footprint.

A Sustainability group, drawn from employees throughout the Group, helps enable the Readypower Group to deliver our operations and administration efficiently and effectively through the adoption of sustainable principles and practices. We are engaged with the Supply Chain Sustainability School which requires the Group to re-assess our activities and receiving bespoke action plans, regularly utilising the School's training resources, and sharing knowledge with other members through case studies and public speaking.

# Engagement with shareholders and investors

Our principal shareholder and investors are represented on the Board of the Group and are therefore engaged in decision making within the business. They receive monthly financial information and regular updates from the Executive Directors.

On behalf of the board

R Jack **Director** 

Date: 19 April 2024

# **DIRECTORS' REPORT**

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The directors present their annual report and audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

#### **Principal activities**

The principal activity of the Group is as a specialist rail infrastructure services provider operating in the highly regulated UK rail industry. The Group operates from five major operational hubs supported by satellite facilities across the UK. The Group provides: specialist operated asset hire of Road Rail Vehicles (RRVs) with attachments designed specifically for use on rail infrastructure; Plant Operating Scheme services to ensure the safe planning of on-track plant and machinery on the UK rail infrastructure; specialist rail drainage services; and specialist civil engineering services to the regulated infrastructure sectors with a particular focus on highly regulated rail infrastructure projects.

#### **Directors**

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of the signature of the financial statements were as follows:

M Brown

W G Devanney

R G Jack

D M Jordan (appointed 2 April 2024)
J M Crossen (resigned 7 September 2023)

#### **Dividends**

No interim dividend was paid during the year (9 months to December 2022: £nil). The directors do not recommend payment of a final dividend.

#### Qualifying third party indemnity provisions

The company has made qualifying third-party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its directors during the year. These provisions remain in force at the reporting date.

#### **Finance Facilities**

The Group is financed by loans from the Angel Trains group of companies.

# **Disabled persons**

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the aptitudes of the applicant concerned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure that their employment within the Group continues and that the appropriate training is arranged. It is the policy of the Group that the training, career development and promotion of disabled persons should, as far as possible, be identical to that of other employees.

#### **Employee engagement**

A full explanation of how the Board ensures the Group engages fully with its employees can be found in the Section 172(1) statement on pages 5-7.

#### Stakeholder engagement

The company is required to set out the performance and development of the business of the Group during the year ending 31 December 2023, the position of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and a description of the principal risk and uncertainties facing the Group. By reference to the strategic report the following information is provided: review of the business; environmental reporting; financial risk management; risk management and principal risks; customer, supplier and wider stakeholder engagement where appropriate additional consideration on risks and areas of focus are included here.

A full explanation of how the Board ensures the Group engages fully with its stakeholders can be found in the Section 172(1) statement on pages 5-7.

# **DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)**

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

#### Strategic report

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006, S414c(11), information in respect of business activities, risk and future developments are shown in the strategic report on pages 3-5.

# Carbon emissions reporting

During the year ended 31 December 2023 we collected data on energy use across all our operations in the UK. The majority of the Group's energy usage is from diesel used in our RRV fleet and van fleet, which is measured in litres and converted to Green House Gas (GHG) emissions using UK Government GHG conversion factors. The remaining fuel usage is gas and electricity used at the Group's facilities.

The Group is taking active steps to reduce GHG emissions through its continued program of upgrades to both the RRV and van fleet. The Group's strategy is to invest in the most efficient machines currently available on the market, and to repurpose older machines rather than scrapping.

We have fully electric cars as an option to our employees and self charging hybrid vans for our operators and intend to roll them out further to our site-based staff who drive commercial vehicles as the technology evolves.

GHG Emissions	Year ended December 2023	Period ended December 2022
Total CO₂e (tonnes)	7,339	3,238
Scope 1 CO₂e (tonnes) <sup>a</sup>	7,042	3,167
Scope 2 CO₂e (tonnes) <sup>b</sup>	117	63
Scope 3 CO₂e (tonnes) <sup>c</sup>	180	8
Intensity Ratio Total turnover (£'000)d	77,794	45,803
Total CO₂e (tonnes) per thousand pounds of turnover	0.094	0.076
Energy consumption		
Energy consumption used to calculate above emissions (kWh)e	28,248,532	12,683,698

#### Notes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Scope 1 covers direct combustion of fuels from RRVs and Group owned vehicles, and gas used in our UK offices

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Scope 2 covers emissions from electricity purchased for own use

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> Scope 3 covers indirect emissions from business travel, primarily fuel used in vehicles owned by employees

d Total turnover (£'000) is turnover per the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e Energy consumption is captured through fuel billing, utility billing and mileage expense claims

# **DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)**

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

### Statement of directors' responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have prepared the group and the company financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards.

Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and company and of the profit or loss of the group for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- state whether applicable UK-adopted international accounting standards have been followed, subject to any
  material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
- · make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the group and company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are also responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the group's and company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the group and company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.

#### **Directors' confirmations**

In the case of each director in office at the date the directors' report is approved:

- so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the group's and company's auditors are unaware; and
- they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of
  any relevant audit information and to establish that the group's and company's auditors are aware of that
  information.

# **Independent Auditors**

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, are deemed to be reappointed under section 487(2) of the Companies Act 2006.

On behalf of the board

R G Jack **Director** 

Date: 19 April 2024

# INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF READYPOWER GROUP LIMITED

# Report on the audit of the financial statements

# **Opinion**

In our opinion, Readypower Group Limited's group financial statements and company financial statements (the "financial statements"):

- give a true and fair view of the state of the group's and of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2023 and of the group's profit and the group's and company's cash flows for the year then ended;
- have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and
- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Report and Financial Statements (the "Annual Report"), which comprise: the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December 2023; the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated and company statements of changes in equity and the consolidated and company cash flow statements for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

# **Basis for opinion**

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

### Independence

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

# Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's and the company's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the group's and the company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

# Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors' report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

# INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF READYPOWER GROUP LIMITED

# Report on the audit of the financial statements

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors' report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions and matters as described below.

# Strategic report and Directors' report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report and Directors' report for the year ended 31 December 2023 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors' report.

# Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

# Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors' responsibilities in respect of the financial statements, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

## Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations related to compliance with tax legislation and with the Companies Act 2006, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management's incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate journal entries to increase revenue and EBITDA, incorrectly capitalising property, plant and equipment (PPE) and management bias in accounting estimates. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

# INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF READYPOWER GROUP LIMITED

# Report on the audit of the financial statements

- Discussions with management, including considerations of known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and regulation and fraud;
- Evaluation of management's controls designed to prevent and detect irregularities;
- Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted with unusual account combinations (impacting revenue, EBITDA or PPE);
- Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their accounting estimates.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors' report.

# Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

# Other required reporting

# **Companies Act 2006 exception reporting**

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

- we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
- · certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
- the company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

# Other matter

The group financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022, forming the corresponding figures of the group financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, are unaudited.

#### Jennefer Have

Jennifer Hale (Senior Statutory Auditor) for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors London 19 April 2024

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

	Note	Year ended 31 December 2023 £'000	9 months ended 31 December 2022 £'000
Turnover Cost of sales Gross profit	2	77,794 (55,115) 22,679	45,803 (32,117) 13,686
Administrative expenses  Operating profit	3	(18,576) 4,103	(9,770) 3,916
Finance income Finance costs	6 7	223 (3,579)	67 (577)
Income tax expense	8	(910) (400)	(263)
Profit attributable to the owners  Total comprehensive income		(163)	3,143

# **CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET**

# **AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023**

As at 31 becember 2023 2022 2022         As at 31 becember 2023 2022         As 2020 2020         As 32 2020<	——————————————————————————————————————		Company Registra	tion No. 10494768
Non-current assets   Section   Sec		Note	December 2023	December 2022
Non-current assets         9         28,022         21,115           Property, plant and equipment         10         52,945         29,570           Right-of-use assets         11         13,170         3,433           Current assets           Inventories         15         547         444           Current tax receivable         16         1,188         1,426           Trade and other receivables         17         16,702         14,417           Cash and cash equivalents         24,697         20,377           Total assets         118,834         74,495           Liabilities           Current liabilities           Trade and other payables         18         (80,712)         (50,040)           Short term lease liabilities         11         (3,335)         (757)           Non-current liabilities           Provisions for other liabilities and charges         19         (3,721)         (1,389)           Deferred tax liability         20         (7,373)         (4,126)           Deferred consideration         14         (1,6875)         (2,892)           Deferred consideration         14         (1,6875)         (2,892) <td>Assets</td> <td>14010</td> <td>2 000</td> <td>2 000</td>	Assets	14010	2 000	2 000
Property, plant and equipment         10         52,945         29,570           Right-of-use assets         11         13,170         3,433           Current assets           Inventories         15         547         444           Current tax receivable         16         1,188         1,426           Trade and other receivables         17         16,702         14,417           Cash and cash equivalents         6,260         4,090           Cash and cash equivalents         8,062         20,377           Total assets         118,834         74,495           Current liabilities         8,0712         (50,040)           Current liabilities         11         (3,335)         (757)           Trade and other payables         18         (80,712)         (50,040)           Short term lease liabilities         11         (3,335)         (757)           Non-current liabilities         19         (3,721)         (1,389)           Provisions for other liabilities and charges         19         (3,721)         (1,389)           Deferred tax liability         20         (7,373)         (4,126)           Deferred considerat				
Right-of-use assets         11         13,170         3,433           Current assets	Intangible assets	9	28,022	21,115
Current assets         94,137         54,118           Inventories         15         547         444           Current tax receivable         16         1,188         1,426           Trade and other receivables         17         16,702         14,417           Cash and cash equivalents         6,260         4,090           24,697         20,377           Total assets         118,834         74,495           Liabilities         Current liabilities           Trade and other payables         18         (80,712)         (50,040)           Short term lease liabilities         11         (3,335)         (757)           Non-current liabilities         11         (3,335)         (757)           Non-current liabilities         19         (3,721)         (1,389)           Deferred tax liability         20         (7,373)         (4,126)           Deferred consideration         14         (1,690)         -           Long term lease liabilities         11         (6,875)         (2,892)           Total Liabilities         (103,706)         (59,204)           Net assets         15,128         15,291           Capital and reserves         1,620         1,620      <	Property, plant and equipment	10	52,945	29,570
Inventories	Right-of-use assets	11	13,170	3,433
Inventories			94,137	54,118
Current tax receivable         16         1,188         1,426           Trade and other receivables         17         16,702         14,417           Cash and cash equivalents         6,260         4,090           Total assets         118,834         74,495           Liabilities         Current liabilities           Trade and other payables         18         (80,712)         (50,040)           Short term lease liabilities         11         (3,335)         (757)           Non-current liabilities         11         (3,335)         (50,797)           Non-current liabilities         19         (3,721)         (1,389)           Provisions for other liabilities and charges         19         (3,721)         (1,389)           Deferred consideration         14         (1,690)         -           Long term lease liabilities         11         (6,875)         (2,892)           Total Liabilities         (19,659)         (8,407)           Total Liabilities         (103,706)         (59,204)           Net assets         15,128         15,291           Capital and reserves         2         31         31           Called-up share capital         22         31	Current assets		<u> </u>	
Trade and other receivables         17         16,702         14,417           Cash and cash equivalents         6,260         4,090           Total assets         118,834         74,495           Liabilities         Trade and other payables         18         (80,712)         (50,040)           Short term lease liabilities         11         (3,335)         (757)           Non-current liabilities         19         (3,721)         (1,389)           Provisions for other liabilities and charges         19         (3,721)         (1,389)           Deferred tax liability         20         (7,373)         (4,126)           Deferred consideration         14         (1,690)         -           Long term lease liabilities         11         (6,875)         (2,892)           Total Liabilities         (103,706)         (59,204)           Net assets         15,128         15,291           Capital and reserves         2         31         31           Called-up share capital         22         31         31           Share premium account         1,620         1,620           Capital redemption reserve         3         3           Capital redemption reserve	Inventories	15	547	444
Cash and cash equivalents         6,260         4,090           7 Cotal assets         118,834         74,495           Liabilities           Current liabilities           Trade and other payables         18         (80,712)         (50,040)           Short term lease liabilities         11         (3,335)         (757)           Non-current liabilities           Provisions for other liabilities and charges         19         (3,721)         (1,389)           Deferred tax liability         20         (7,373)         (4,126)           Deferred consideration         14         (1,690)         -           Long term lease liabilities         11         (6,875)         (2,892)           Total Liabilities         (103,706)         (59,204)           Net assets         15,128         15,291           Capital and reserves         22         31         31           Capital redemption reserve         3         3           Capital redemption reserve         3         3           Retained earnings         13,474         13,637	Current tax receivable	16		1,426
Total assets         24,697         20,377           Liabilities         Current liabilities           Trade and other payables         18         (80,712)         (50,040)           Short term lease liabilities         11         (3,335)         (757)           Non-current liabilities         (84,047)         (50,797)           Provisions for other liabilities and charges         19         (3,721)         (1,389)           Deferred tax liability         20         (7,373)         (4,126)           Deferred consideration         14         (1,690)         -           Long term lease liabilities         11         (6,875)         (2,892)           Total Liabilities         (103,706)         (59,204)           Net assets         15,128         15,291           Capital and reserves         22         31         31           Capital redemption reserve         3         3           Capital redemption reserve         3         3           Retained earnings         13,474         13,637		17		•
Total assets         118,834         74,495           Liabilities         Current liabilities           Trade and other payables         18 (80,712) (50,040)           Short term lease liabilities         11 (3,335) (757)           Non-current liabilities         84,047) (50,797)           Provisions for other liabilities and charges         19 (3,721) (1,389)           Deferred tax liability         20 (7,373) (4,126)           Deferred consideration         14 (1,690) -           Long term lease liabilities         11 (6,875) (2,892)           Total Liabilities         (19,659) (8,407)           Total Liabilities         (103,706) (59,204)           Net assets         15,128 (15,291)           Capital and reserves         22 (31) (31) (31)           Called-up share capital         22 (31) (31) (31)           Share premium account         1,620 (31)           Capital redemption reserve         3 (31)           Retained earnings         13,474 (31,3637)	Cash and cash equivalents		6,260	4,090
Liabilities           Current liabilities           Trade and other payables         18         (80,712)         (50,040)           Short term lease liabilities         11         (3,335)         (757)           Non-current liabilities           Provisions for other liabilities and charges         19         (3,721)         (1,389)           Deferred tax liability         20         (7,373)         (4,126)           Deferred consideration         14         (1,690)         -           Long term lease liabilities         11         (6,875)         (2,892)           Total Liabilities         (103,706)         (59,204)           Net assets         15,128         15,291           Capital and reserves         2         31         31           Called-up share capital         22         31         31           Share premium account         1,620         1,620           Capital redemption reserve         3         3           Retained earnings         13,474         13,637			24,697	20,377
Current liabilities         Trade and other payables       18       (80,712)       (50,040)         Short term lease liabilities       11       (3,335)       (757)         Non-current liabilities         Provisions for other liabilities and charges       19       (3,721)       (1,389)         Deferred tax liability       20       (7,373)       (4,126)         Deferred consideration       14       (1,690)       -         Long term lease liabilities       11       (6,875)       (2,892)         Total Liabilities       (103,706)       (59,204)         Net assets       15,128       15,291         Capital and reserves         Called-up share capital       22       31       31         Share premium account       1,620       1,620         Capital redemption reserve       3       3         Retained earnings       13,474       13,637	Total assets		118,834	74,495
Trade and other payables         18         (80,712)         (50,040)           Short term lease liabilities         11         (3,335)         (757)           Non-current liabilities           Provisions for other liabilities and charges         19         (3,721)         (1,389)           Deferred tax liability         20         (7,373)         (4,126)           Deferred consideration         14         (1,690)         -           Long term lease liabilities         11         (6,875)         (2,892)           Total Liabilities         (103,706)         (59,204)           Net assets         15,128         15,291           Capital and reserves           Called-up share capital         22         31         31           Share premium account         1,620         1,620           Capital redemption reserve         3         3           Retained earnings         13,474         13,637	Liabilities			
Short term lease liabilities         11         (3,335)         (757)           Non-current liabilities         (84,047)         (50,797)           Provisions for other liabilities and charges         19         (3,721)         (1,389)           Deferred tax liability         20         (7,373)         (4,126)           Deferred consideration         14         (1,690)         -           Long term lease liabilities         11         (6,875)         (2,892)           Total Liabilities         (103,706)         (59,204)           Net assets         15,128         15,291           Capital and reserves         22         31         31           Capital regentum account         1,620         1,620           Capital redemption reserve         3         3           Retained earnings         13,474         13,637	Current liabilities			
Non-current liabilities         (84,047)         (50,797)           Provisions for other liabilities and charges         19 (3,721)         (1,389)           Deferred tax liability         20 (7,373)         (4,126)           Deferred consideration         14 (1,690)         -           Long term lease liabilities         11 (6,875)         (2,892)           Total Liabilities         (103,706)         (59,204)           Net assets         15,128         15,291           Capital and reserves         22 31 31         31           Called-up share capital         22 31 31         31           Share premium account         1,620         1,620           Capital redemption reserve         3 3         3           Retained earnings         13,474         13,637	• •			
Non-current liabilities         In the provisions for other liabilities and charges         19 (3,721) (1,389)           Deferred tax liability         20 (7,373) (4,126)         Deferred consideration         14 (1,690)            Long term lease liabilities         11 (6,875) (2,892)         (19,659) (8,407)           Total Liabilities         (103,706) (59,204)         Net assets         15,128 15,291           Capital and reserves         Called-up share capital         22 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31	Short term lease liabilities	11	(3,335)	(757)
Provisions for other liabilities and charges       19       (3,721)       (1,389)         Deferred tax liability       20       (7,373)       (4,126)         Deferred consideration       14       (1,690)       -         Long term lease liabilities       11       (6,875)       (2,892)         Total Liabilities       (103,706)       (59,204)         Net assets       15,128       15,291         Capital and reserves       22       31       31         Called-up share capital       22       31       31         Share premium account       1,620       1,620         Capital redemption reserve       3       3         Retained earnings       13,474       13,637			(84,047)	(50,797)
Deferred tax liability         20         (7,373)         (4,126)           Deferred consideration         14         (1,690)         -           Long term lease liabilities         11         (6,875)         (2,892)           Total Liabilities         (19,659)         (8,407)           Net assets         15,128         15,291           Capital and reserves           Called-up share capital         22         31         31           Share premium account         1,620         1,620           Capital redemption reserve         3         3           Retained earnings         13,474         13,637				
Deferred consideration       14       (1,690)       -         Long term lease liabilities       11       (6,875)       (2,892)         (19,659)       (8,407)         Total Liabilities       (103,706)       (59,204)         Net assets       15,128       15,291         Capital and reserves       22       31       31         Share premium account       1,620       1,620         Capital redemption reserve       3       3         Retained earnings       13,474       13,637	<del>-</del>			
Long term lease liabilities         11         (6,875)         (2,892)           (19,659)         (8,407)           Total Liabilities         (103,706)         (59,204)           Net assets         15,128         15,291           Capital and reserves         22         31         31           Share premium account         1,620         1,620           Capital redemption reserve         3         3           Retained earnings         13,474         13,637	•			(4,126)
Total Liabilities         (19,659)         (8,407)           Net assets         (103,706)         (59,204)           Capital and reserves         15,128         15,291           Called-up share capital         22         31         31           Share premium account         1,620         1,620           Capital redemption reserve         3         3           Retained earnings         13,474         13,637				(0.000)
Total Liabilities         (103,706)         (59,204)           Net assets         15,128         15,291           Capital and reserves         22         31         31           Called-up share capital         22         31         31           Share premium account         1,620         1,620           Capital redemption reserve         3         3           Retained earnings         13,474         13,637	Long term lease liabilities	11	(6,875)	(2,892)
Net assets         15,128         15,291           Capital and reserves         22         31         31           Called-up share capital         22         31         31           Share premium account         1,620         1,620           Capital redemption reserve         3         3           Retained earnings         13,474         13,637			(19,659)	(8,407)
Capital and reserves         Called-up share capital       22       31       31         Share premium account       1,620       1,620         Capital redemption reserve       3       3         Retained earnings       13,474       13,637	Total Liabilities		(103,706)	(59,204)
Called-up share capital       22       31       31         Share premium account       1,620       1,620         Capital redemption reserve       3       3         Retained earnings       13,474       13,637	Net assets		15,128	15,291
Share premium account         1,620         1,620           Capital redemption reserve         3         3           Retained earnings         13,474         13,637	Capital and reserves			
Capital redemption reserve33Retained earnings13,47413,637	Called-up share capital	22	31	31
Retained earnings 13,474 13,637	·		1,620	1,620
			-	-
Total equity <u>15,128</u> <u>15,291</u>	Retained earnings		13,474	13,637
	Total equity		15,128	15,291

The notes on pages 21 to 46 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 14 to 46 were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 19 April 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

W G Devanney

Director

## **COMPANY BALANCE SHEET**

# **AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023**

	company regions	11011 NO. 10494766
	As at 31 December	As at 31 December
Note	2023	2022
Note Assets	£'000	£'000
Non-current assets		
Property, plant and equipment 10	1,604	-
Investments 12	93,943	73,857
Deferred tax asset 20	602	194
	96,149	74,051
Current assets		
Trade and other receivables 17	1,704	1,331
Cash and cash equivalents	13	
	1,717	1,331
Total assets	97,866	75,382
Liabilities		
Current liabilities		
Trade and other payables 18	(68,903)	(46,814)
	(68,903)	(46,814)
Non-current liabilities	<u></u>	<u></u> -
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 19	(2,397)	(774)
Deferred consideration 14	(1,690)	
	(4,087)	(774)
Total Liabilities	(72,990)	(47,588)
Net assets	24,876	27,794
Capital and reserves		
Called-up share capital	31	31
Share premium account	1,620	1,620
Capital redemption reserve	3	3
Retained earnings	23,222	26,140
Total equity	24,876	27,794

Company Registration No. 10494768

As permitted by s408 Companies Act 2006, the company has not presented its own statement of comprehensive income as it prepares group financial statements. The company's loss for the year was £2,918,000 (2022: profit for the period £13,186,000).

The notes on pages 21 to 46 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 14 to 46 were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 11 April 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

W G Devanney

Director

# CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

		Year ended	9 months ended
		31 December	31 December
		2023	2022
	Note	£'000	£'000
Cash flows from operating activities			
Cash generated from operations	25	14,358	8,912
Interest received		213	67
Tax received		328	
Net cash generated from from operating activities		14,899	8,979
Cash flows from investing activities			
Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired		(14,160)	-
Purchase of intangible assets		(55)	(168)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment		(9,625)	(5,029)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment		361	412
Net cash used in investing activities		(23,479)	(4,785)
Cash flows from financing activities			
Proceeds from borrowings		30,070	-
Repayment of borrowings		(16,883)	(5,071)
Repayment of lease liabilities		(2,008)	(373)
Repayment of interest on leases		(429)	(159)
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities		10,750	(5,603)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		2,170	(1,409)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year/period		4,090	5,499
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year/period		6,260	4,090

Company Registration No. 10494768

# COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Company Registration No. 10494768

Cook flows from an areating postivities	Note	Year ended 31 December 2023 £'000	9 months ended 31 December 2022 £'000
Cash flows from operating activities Cash used in operations	25	(157)	
Net cash used in from operating activities		(157)	
Cash flows from investing activities Purchase of business Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired Net cash used in investing activities		(14,980) (200) (15,180)	- - - -
Cash flows from financing activities Proceeds from loans from group companies Loans to other group companies		27,569 (12,219)	<u>.</u>
Net cash generated from investing activities		15,350	
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		13	
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year/period		-	-
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year/period		13	

In the 9 months ended 31 December 2022, the company did not report any cash flow as all financial transactions were funded by other Group companies. This arrangement allowed the company to conduct its business operations without the need for independent cash reserves. As a result, no cash flow activities, including cash inflows or outflows, were recorded in the Company's financial statements for the prior period.

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

	Share capital	Share premium account	Other reserves	Retained earnings	Total equity
	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000
Balance at 1 April 2022	31	1,620	3	10,494	12,148
9 months ended 31 December 2022: Profit and total comprehensive income for the financial period	-	_	-	3,143	3,143
Balance at 31 December 2022	31	1,620	3	13,637	15,291
Year ended 31 December 2023: Profit and total comprehensive income for the financial year	_	_	_	(163)	(163)
Balance at 31 December 2023	31	1,620	3	13,474	15,128

# COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

	Share capital	Share premium account	Other reserves	Retained earnings	Total equity
	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000
Balance at 1 April 2022	31	1,620	3	12,954	14,608
9 months ended 31 December 2022: Profit and total comprehensive income for the financial period	<u>-</u>	_	_	13,186	13,186
Balance at 31 December 2022	31	1,620	3	26,140	27,794
Year ended 31 December 2023: Profit and total comprehensive income for the financial year	<u>-</u>	-	_	(2,918)	(2,918)
Balance at 31 December 2023	31	1,620	3	23,222	24,876

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

#### 1 Accounting policies

#### **Company information**

Readypower Group Limited ("the company") is a private company limited by shares and is registered and incorporated in the United Kingdom (England and Wales). The registered office is Unit 620 Wharfedale Road, Winnersh, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG41 5TP. The company is domiciled in the United Kingdom.

The Group and company's principal activities and nature of its operations are disclosed in the Directors' Report.

#### Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards ("IAS") and with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companies reporting under those standards.

#### Summary of significant accounting policies

The principle accounting policies adopted are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

#### Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the company. Monetary amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds sterling.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IAS requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of turnover and expenses during the financial period. Although these estimates are based on management's best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates.

#### Going concern

At the time of approving the financial statements, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group and company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future both through its own resources and through the resource and support of the parent company, Angel Trains Limited. Thus the directors continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

#### Adoption of the new and revised Standards

## New and amended IFRS standards that are affective for the current year

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following amended standards were effective for accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2023 but did not have a material impact on the Company's financial statements:

- IFRS 17 'Insurance contracts'
- IAS 1 (amendment) 'Presentation of Financial Statements' Disclosure of Accounting Policies
- IAS 8 (amendment) 'Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors'
- IAS 12 (amendment) 'Income Taxes'

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

### 1 Accounting policies (Continued)

#### Adoption of the new and revised Standards (continued)

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been issued but are effective for accounting periods beginning after 1 January 2023, and the Company has not early adopted them:

- IFRS S1 General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financial Information
- IFRS S2 Climate-related Disclosures
- IFRS16 (amendments) Lease liability in a Sale and Leaseback
- IAS1 (amendments) Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current
- IAS1 (amendments) Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
- IAS 7 and IFRS 7 (amendments) Supplier Finance Arrangements
- · IAS 21 (amendments) Lack of Exchangeability
- Amendments to the SASB standards to enhance their international applicability

#### Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the company's accounting policies, the directors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised where the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods where the revision affects both current and future periods.

#### Critical judgements

The following are the critical judgements that the directors have made in the process of applying the company's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements.

#### Useful lives of plant and equipment

The company periodically reviews the useful economic lives. For the current year, the directors have considered the current estimate of useful economic lives to be supportable and reasonable and therefore no material changes have been made during the year. Given the long life of RRVs, there is inherent uncertainty and therefore the directors will continue to review periodically.

#### Critical accounting estimates

The following are the critical estimates that the directors have made in the process of applying the company's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements.

### Forecasts and discount rates

As described in the impairment of fixed assets policy below the company reviews the carrying amounts of its fixed assets and in particular plant and equipment. The assessment as to whether there are any indications of impairment of fixed assets are dependent on the estimated future cash flows and the discount rate used to calculate a present value. Using these estimates, the company performs robust cash flow forecasts, which are regularly reviewed by directors.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

#### 1 Accounting policies (Continued)

#### Incremental borrowing rates

Incremental borrowing rates are used in calculating the discounted lease liabilities with respect to leases on plant and equipment, property and vehicles. Incremental borrowing rates used in these calculations are derived from the company's rate of borrowing on its loan with The Great Rolling Stock Company PLC, a fellow group company, and further information is given in note 18. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to measure lease liabilities during the year was 5.99% for plant and equipment, property and vehicles.

### Long term incentive plan accrual

The management of the company and the wider Group are incentivesed partly through a long term incentive plan. The plan is based on the performance of the Group over a long term period, and hence incentives are accrued based on long term forecasts, which are dependent on future estimates. Estimates are continually monitored and the plan accrual updated if estimates significantly change.

#### Revenue recognition

Revenue shown in the income statement comprises revenue from specialist operated asset hire and Plant Operating Scheme services.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amount receivable for services rendered, net of value added taxes. The company recognises revenue when (a) the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer; (b) the company retains no continuing involvement; (c) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; and (d) it is probable that the future economic benefits will flow to the entity.

Revenue from specialist operated asset hire and Plant Operating Scheme services are recognized as services are performed. Services represent short term operated hire or operated plant and equipment and associated services. To the extent that services have been performed, but not yet invoiced accrued revenue is recognised.

Revenue from specialist civil engineering contracts are recognised based on work completed to date. Progress is determined based upon sectional or measured completion as defined in the contract; based on activity schedules and bill of quantities respectively, up to and including the reporting end date. This includes works certified and billed; works applied for; and work-in-progress not yet contractually applied for, though can be estimated reliably.

The value of variations to scope in contract are included in turnover to the extent that the amount can be reliably measured and agreed with the customer and its receipt is considered probable.

When it is probable that the total specialist civil engineering contract will make a loss, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Accrued revenue/amounts owed by contract customers represents revenue on work that has been completed but not yet invoiced.

Deferred income represents the difference between applications for payment made to customers and the expected future cash payment of that application. Deferred income is released to the profit and loss account when payment is expected with reasonable certainty, or payment is made by the customer.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

#### 1 Accounting policies (Continued)

#### Intangible fixed assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost and are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as expense as incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the company are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

- it is technically feasible to complete the software so that it is available for use;
- management intends to complete the software and use or sell it;
- there is an ability to use or sell the software;
- it can be demonstrated how the software will generate future economic benefits;
- adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the software are available; and
- the expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred.

Amortisation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over their useful lives on the following bases:

Software

3 - 5 years straight line

# **Tangible fixed assets**

Tangible fixed assets are measured at cost net of accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Costs include the original purchase price and costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition.

Subsequent costs, including major upgrades, are included in the asset's carrying amount, or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the company and the cost can be measured reliably. Repairs, maintenance and minor inspection costs are expensed as incurred.

Where major machine upgrades are performed within the business, the costs relating to the upgrades, including parts and labour, are attributed to assets under construction. Once upgrades have been completed, the total upgrade cost is transferred to plant and machinery and depreciated in line with the depreciation policy set out below.

Depreciation is calculated to allocate the depreciable amount to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

	Straight line
Plant and equipment	
Road rail vehicles	10 years
Machine upgrades	7 years
Plant and equipment including specialist	
attachments	8 - 10 years
Fixtures and fittings	4 - 10 years
Computers	4 years
Motor vehicles	4 years

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying value of the asset, and is credited or charged to the statement of comprehensive income.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

#### 1 Accounting policies (Continued)

#### Assets under construction

Assets under construction are recognised as assets when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Assets under construction are initially measured at cost, which includes all costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to its intended condition and location for use.

Depreciation of assets under construction does not commence until the assets are ready for their intended use. Once the construction is completed and the assets are ready for use, they are transferred to the appropriate asset category and depreciation commences in accordance with the Group's depreciation policy. Assets under construction are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If impairment is identified, the carrying amount of the asset is written down to its recoverable amount, and a loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

#### Right-of-use assets

The company makes use of leasing arrangements principally for the provision of plant and equipment, office and workshop space, and motor vehicles. The rental contracts for plant and equipment are typically negotiated for terms of between 5 and 8 years. The rental contracts for offices are typically negotiated for terms of between 5 and 15 years. Leases for motor vehicles have terms of 3 years.

At lease commencement date the company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability in its balance sheet. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, being the present value of all lease payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the company's incremental borrowing rate.

The company depreciates the right-of-use asset on a straight line basis from the lease commencement date to the end of the lease term. The company also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exist.

### Impairment of fixed assets

At each reporting year end date, the company reviews the carrying amount of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset, the company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income.

#### **Inventories**

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell. Cost comprises direct materials and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

At each reporting date, an assessment is made for impairment. Any excess of the carrying amount of stocks over its estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell is recognised as an impairment loss in the statement of comprehensive income. Reversals of impairment losses are also recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

### 1 Accounting policies (Continued)

#### Cash at bank and in hand

Cash at bank and in hand are basic financial instruments and include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and bank overdrafts.

#### **Financial instruments**

Financial instruments are recognised when the company becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, with the net amounts presented in the financial statements, when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

#### Basic financial assets

Basic financial assets, which include trade and other receivables, are initially measured at transaction price including transaction costs and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the financial asset is measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest.

#### Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those held at fair value through profit and loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting end date.

Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows have been affected. If an asset is impaired, the impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

If there is a decrease in the impairment loss arising from an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the impairment is reversed. The reversal is such that the current carrying amount does not exceed what the carrying amount would have been, had the impairment not previously been recognised. The impairment reversal is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Trade receivables are recognised at their original amount less an allowance for any doubtful amounts. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is recognised based on lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting date.

#### Derecognition of financial assets

Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled, or when the company transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to another entity, or if some significant risks and rewards of ownership are retained but control of the asset has transferred to another party that is able to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party.

#### Basic financial liabilities

Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, are initially recognised at transaction price unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the present value of the future payments discounted at a market rate of interest.

Debt instruments are subsequently carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

# Derecognition of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only when, the company's contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled, or they expire.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

## FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

#### 1 Accounting policies (Continued)

#### Classification of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the company after deducting all of its liabilities.

### Taxation

The tax expense represents the sum of the current tax expense and deferred tax expense. Current tax assets are recognised when tax paid exceeds the tax payable.

Current and deferred tax is charged or credited to the statement of comprehensive income, except when it relates to items charged or credited to other comprehensive income or equity, when the tax follows the transaction or event it relates to and is also charged or credited to other comprehensive income, or equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if and only if, there is a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and the entity intends either to settle on the net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current tax is based on taxable profit for the year. Current tax assets and liabilities are measured using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised in respect of all timing differences that exist at the reporting date. Timing differences are differences between taxable profits and total comprehensive income that arise from the inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in different periods from their recognition in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that they will be recovered by the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits.

## **Employee benefits**

The costs of short-term employee benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense, unless those costs are required to be recognised as part of the cost of stock or fixed assets.

The cost of any unused holiday entitlement is recognised in the period in which the employee's services are received.

Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the company is demonstrably committed to terminate the employment of an employee or to provide termination benefits.

#### Retirement benefits

For defined contribution schemes the amount charged to the statement of comprehensive income is the contributions payable in the year. Differences between contributions payable in the year and contributions actually paid are shown as either assets or liabilities.

#### **Dividends**

Dividends to the Company's parent company are recognised as a liability in the financial statements in the period in which the divided is approved. These amounts are recognised in the statement of changes in equity.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

#### 2 Turnover

The whole of the turnover is attributable to the principal activity of the Company and Group. All turnover arose within the United Kingdom.

## 3 Operating profit

		9 months
	Year ended	ended
	31 December 31	l December
	2023	2022
Operating profit for the year/period is stated after charging/(crediting):	£'000	£'000
Fees payable to the company's auditors for the audit of the company's financial		
statements	234	147
Depreciation of owned tangible fixed assets	6,262	3,590
Depreciation of right-of-use assets	1,945	398
Profit on disposal of tangible fixed assets	(117)	(212)
Amortisation of intangible assets	81	38
Operating lease charges	127	49

Of the depreciation charge £3,921,000 (9 months ended 31 December 2022: £2,814,000) is reported within cost of sales and £1,807,000 (9 months ended 31 December 2022: £880,000) is within administrative expenses. There were no fees charged by the auditors for other non-audit services during the period (9 months ended 31 December 2022: £nil).

# 4 Employees

The average monthly number of persons (including directors) employed during the year/period was:

Group		Company		
	9 months		9 months	
Year ended	ended	Year ended	ended	
31 December 3	1 December	31 December 3	1 December	
2023	2022	2023	2022	
Number	Number	Number	Number	
3	3	3	1	
	_	-		
	_	10	_	
90	- 11	10	<u>-</u>	
402	300	13	1	
Grou	•	Compa	-	
			9 months	
			ended	
31 December 3	1 December	31 December 3	1 December	
2023	2022	2023	2022	
Number	Number	Number	Number	
21.517	11.773	1.227	144	
			13	
409	230	47	4	
	Year ended 31 December 3: 2023 Number  3 303 96 402  Grout  Year ended 31 December 3: 2023 Number  21,517 2,337	9 months Year ended 31 December 31 December 2023 2022 Number Number  3 3 3 303 220 96 77 402 300  Group 9 months Year ended 31 December 31 December 2023 2022 Number Number  21,517 11,773 2,337 1,281	9 months Year ended ended Year ended 31 December 31 December 31 December 3 2023 2022 2023 Number Number Number  3 3 3 3 303 220 - 96 77 10 402 300 13  Group Compa 9 months Year ended ended Year ended 31 December 31 December 3 2023 2022 2023 Number Number Number  21,517 11,773 1,227 2,337 1,281 69	

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

_	D:1	remuneration

	Year ended	9 months ended
	31 December 3	
	2023 £'000	2022 £'000
Remuneration for qualifying services	605	542
Company pension contributions to defined contribution schemes	26	26
	631	568

Remuneration disclosed above includes the following amounts paid to the highest paid director:

		9 months
	Year ended	ended
	31 December 3	1 December
	2023	2022
	£'000	£'000
Remuneration for qualifying services	279	190
Company pension contributions to defined contribution schemes	10	9
	289	199

## 6 Finance income

	Year ended	9 months ended
	31 December	31 December
	2023	2022
	£'000	£'000
Bank interest received	223	67

#### 7 Finance costs

	9 mon Year ended end	nths ded
	31 December 31 Decem	ber
	2023 20	022
	£'000 £'0	000
Interest payable to group undertakings	3,151 4	17
Interest payable for finance leases	428	60
	3,579 5	577

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

### 8 Income tax expense

income tax expense		
	Year ended	9 months ended
	31 December 3	
	2023	2022
	£'000	£'000
Current tax		
UK corporation tax on profits for the current year/period	85	-
Group relief	-	(275)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods	(134)	-
Total current tax	(49)	(275)
		9 months
	Year ended	ended
	31 December 3	1 December
	2023	2022
	£'000	£'000
Deferred tax	2000	
Origination and reversal of timing differences	933	541
Adjustments in respect of prior periods	26	(3)
/ is just more in respect of prior periods		(0)
Total deferred tax	959	538
Total tax charge	910	263

The total tax charge for the year/period included in the statement of comprehensive income can be reconciled to the profit before taxation multiplied by the standard rate of taxation as follows:

	Year ended 31 December 3 2023 £'000	9 months ended 1 December 2022 £'000
Profit before taxation	747	3,406
Expected tax charge based on the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 23.52% (9 months ended 31 December 2022: 19.00%)	176	645
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit Fixed asset timing difference	242	413 (526)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods  Effect of change in corporation tax rate	(108) 68	(3) 144
Transer pricing adjustments Utilisation of tax losses	532	(410)
Total tax charge	910	263

In the Finance Act 2021 which received Royal Assent on 10 June 2021, it was announced that the main rate of corporation tax would increase to 25% from 1 April 2023. The effect of the increase in the tax rate has been reflected in the charge to the income statement for this year.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

### 9 Intangible assets

Group	Goodwill £'000	Software £'000	Total £'000
Cost			
At 1 April 2022 Additions	20,870 -	223 168	21,093 168
At 1 January 2023 Additions	20,870 6,933	391 55	21,261 6,988
At 31 December 2023	27,803	446	28,249
Accumulated amortisation			
At 1 April 2022	-	108	108
Amortisation charged in the period	-	38	38
At 1 January 2023	-	146	146
Amortisation charged in the year	-	81	81
At 31 December 2023	-	227	227
Carrying amount			
At 31 December 2023	27,803	219	28,022
At 31 December 2022	20,870	245	21,115

During the financial year, the Group had four cash generating units (CGUs) being Readypower Rail Services Limited, Readypower Terrawise Limited, Readypower Complete Drain Clearance Limited, and Force One Limited. For the year ending 31 December 2023 the recoverable amount has been determined based on a Value in Use methodology.

#### **Sensitivities**

The Value in Use calculation requires the exercise of significant judgement by management; if the estimates prove to be incorrect or performance does not meet expectations, goodwill may become impaired in future periods. In determining the Value in Use management discounted its forecast cash flows using a discount rate based on what it considers to be a market pre-tax weighted average cost of capital ("WACC") of 5.99%.

The net present value determined by the Value in Use model is sensitive mainly to changes in the discount rate. The table below shows the change in the net present value ("NPV") for each CGU from a 0.1% increase in discount rate, and the discount rate required to reduce the headroom calculated by the Value in Use model to

	NPV change from 0.1% increase in discount rate £'000	Zero headroom discount rate %
Readypower Rail Services Limited	6,668	>100%
Readypower Terrawise Limited	978	>100%
Readypower Complete Drain Clearance Limited	1,098	>100%
Force One Limited	1,270	36.80%

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

## 10 Property, plant and equipment

Group	Assets under construction	Plant and equipment	Fixtures and M fittings	otor vehicles	Land and property	Total
	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000
Cost						
At 1 April 2022	648	42,026	1,390	3,321	-	47,385
Additions	1,255	2,390	153	1,223	-	5,021
Transfers	(372)	372	-	-	-	-
Disposals	-	(697)	(1)	(226)	-	(924)
At 1 January 2023	1,531	44,091	1,542	4,318	-	51,482
Additions	5,382	2,044	96	2,100	-	9,622
Transfers	(4,075)	4,075	-	-	-	-
Business combinations	-	17,068	241	429	2,528	20,266
Disposals		(277)	-	(544)	-	(821)
At 31 December 2023	2,838	67,001	1,879	6,303	2,528	80,549
Accumulated depreciation						
At 1 April 2022 Depreciation charged	-	16,381	483	2,217	-	19,081
in the period	_	3,023	134	433	-	3,590
Disposals	-	(503)	(1)	(255)	-	(759)
At 1 January 2023	-	18,901	616	2,395	-	21,912
Depreciation charged in the year	-	5,108	217	917	20	6,262
Disposals		(176)	-	(394)	-	(570)
At 31 December 2023	-	23,833	833	2,918	20	27,604
Carrying amount						
At 31 December 2023	2,838	43,168	1,046	3,385	2,508	52,945
At 31 December 2022	1,531	25,190	926	1,923	-	29,570

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method to allocate the depreciable amount to their residual values over their estimated useful lives. The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. Land and property includes £1,153,000 (2022: £nil) of land that is not subject to depreciation.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

## FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

### 10 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Company	Land and property	Total
	£'000	£'000
Cost		
At 1 January 2023	-	-
Additions	1,604	1,604
At 31 December 2023	1,604	1,604
Accumulated depreciation		
At 1 January 2023	-	-
Depreciation charged in the year	-	-
At 31 December 2023		-
Carrying amount		
At 31 December 2023	1,604	1,604
At 31 December 2022	1,604	1,604

Land and property includes £1,034,000 (2022: £nil) of land that is not subject to depreciation.

## 11 Leases

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to measure lease liabilities is 5.99% for plant and equipment, property and motor vehicles.

The Group leases plant and equipment, properties and vehicles. Leases are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. Plant is leased for fixed periods of between 5 to 8 years, with lease payments being fixed. Properties are leased for fixed periods of between 5 to 15 years, with lease payments being fixed. Vehicles are leased for a fixed period of 3 years.

Leases of some plant and equipment, properties and vehicles are on a short term basis and the costs are recognised on a straight line basis during the financial period.

The balance sheet shows a separate line item for right-of-use assets, which comprises the following:

	Plant and equipment £'000	Vehicles £'000	Property £'000	Total £'000
Balance as at 1 April 2022	-	-	3,579	3,579
Additions - new lease contracts	-	252	-	252
Depreciation	-	(7)	(391)	(398)
Balance as at 1 January 2023	-	245	3,188	3,433
Additions - new lease contracts	-	69	-	69
Business combinations	10,012	1,100	742	11,854
Disposals	-	-	(241)	(241)
Depreciation	(756)	(235)	(954)	(1,945)
Balance as at 31 December 2023	9,256	1,179	2,735	13,170

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

# 11 Leases (Continued)

The balance sheet shows separate line items for short term and long term lease liabilities, which comprise the following:

following:	As at 31 December	As at 31 December
	2023	2022
	£'000	£'000
Short term lease liabilities:	0.007	
Plant end equipment  Motor vehicles	2,027 522	- 89
Property	786	668
Total short term lease liabilities	3,335	757
Long term lease liabilities:		
Plant end equipment	3,627	-
Motor vehicles	609	151
Property	2,639	2,741
Total long term lease liabilities	6,875	2,892
The maturity of the contractual undiscounted cash flows is as follows:		
The material of the contracted analogounted cash hone to actioners.	As at 31	As at 31
	December	December
	2023	2022
	£'000	£'000
Less than one year	3,423	689
One to five years	7,094	2,214
More than five years	1,082	1,318
	11,599	4,221
Amounts recognised in the income statement under IFRS 16 are as follows:		
		9 months
	Year ended	ended
	31 December 3	1 December
	2023	2022
	£'000	£'000
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets	1,945	398
Interest expense on lease liabilities	428	160
Expenses related to short term leases	127	49
	2,500	607

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

#### 12 Investments

Company	Shares in group undertakings £'000
Cost or valuation	2000
At 1 April 2022	-
Additions	75,093
Impairment	(1,236)
At 31 December 2022	73,857
Additions	28,695
Capital repayment	(7,379)
Impairment	(1,230)
At 31 December 2023	93,943
Carrying amount	
At 31 December 2022	73,857
At 31 December 2023	93,943

The additional investment in the year relates to the acquisitions of Force One Limited, Jamie-Lee Cooper Limited and Total Rail Solutions Limited as described in note 14. On 21 December 2023, Readypower Group Limited invested an additional £11,823,000 for 11,823,000 £1 ordinary share capital in Total Rail Solutions Limited. On 21 December 2023, Total Rail Solutions Limited also made a repayment of capital of £7,379,000 to Readypower Group Limited. The impairment in the period relates to Jamie-Lee Cooper Limited.

#### 13 Subsidiaries

Details of the company's subsidiaries at 31 December 2023 are as follows:

Name of undertaking	Registered office	Nature of business	Class of shares held	% Held Direct
Readypower Rail Services Limited	*	Specialist provider of rail infrastructure services and equipment	Ordinary	100.00
Readypower Terrawise Limited	*	Construction of civil engineering projects	Ordinary	100.00
Readypower Complete Drain Clearance Limited	*	Specialist provider of rail drain clearance services and equipment	Ordinary	100.00
Force One Limited	*	Specialist provider of suction excavation services and equipment	Ordinary	100.00
Readypower Canada Ltd.	22 Adelaide St. W., Ste. 3600, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5H 4E3	Dormant	Ordinary	100.00

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

### 13 Subsidiaries (continued)

Name of undertaking	Registered office	Nature of business	Class of shares held	% Held Direct
Jamie-Lee Cooper Limited	5 Whistleberry Road, Blantyre, Glasgow, Scotland, G72 0TH	Dormant	Ordinary	100.00
Total Rail Solutions Limited	*	Dormant	Ordinary	100.00
Readypower Plant Limited	*	Dormant	Ordinary	100.00

<sup>\*</sup> Unit 620 Wharfedale Road, Winnersh, Wokingham, RG41 5TP.

#### 14 Acquisitions

## **Acquisition of Force One Limited**

On 1 June 2023 the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Force One Limited for a consideration of £12,898,000. At the acquisition date the assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recognised at their fair values to the Group, as set out below:

	Fair value recognised
	on acquistion
	£'000
Property, plant and equipment	2,613
Right-of-use assets	10,317
Cash and cash equivalents	797
Trade and other receivables	2,225
Corporation tax receivable	49
Inventories	13
Trade and other payables	(1,377)
Lease liabilities	(7,226)
Deferred tax liability	(1,431)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value	5,980
Goodwill arising on acquisition	6,918
Purchase consideration transferred	12,898

The goodwill constitutes the workforce employed by Force One Limited, synergies resulting due to the nature of the business, and non-contractual customer relationships that have not met the criteria for recognition as a separate intangible asset.

The Group measured the acquired lease liabilities using the present value of the remaining lease payments at the date of acquisition. The right-of-use assets were measured at an amount equal to the present value of the lease liabilities. The fair value of acquired trade receivables is £1,708,000. The gross contractual amount for trade receivables due is £1,728,000, with a loss allowance of £20,000 recognised on acquisition.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

### 14 Acquisitions (continued)

#### **Acquisition of Force One Limited (continued)**

Purchase consideration	£'000
Cash paid	11,208
Contingent deferred consideration liability	1,690
Total consideration	12,898
Net each cuttless existing an equipition.	CIOOO
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:	£'000
Cash consideration	(11,208)
Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired	797_
	(10,411)

Acquisition costs of £614,000 are included in administrative expenses in the statement of profit and loss and in operating cash flows in the statement of cash flows.

Force One Limited contributed turnover in the year ended 31 December 2023 of £6,113,000 and net profit attributable to the owners of £257,000. If the acquisition had taken place on 1 January 2023, turnover from continuing operations would have been £11,774,000 and net profit attributable to the owners of £338,000.

As part of the purchase agreement with the previous owner of Force One Limited, a contingent consideration has been agreed. There will additional cash payments to the previous owner of Force One Limited if the business hits EBITDA targets for the 13 months to 31 December 2023, and hits further targets for the 12 months to 31 December 2024. As at the year end the fair value of the contingent consideration was estimated to be £1,690,000.

# **Acquisition of Jamie-Lee Cooper Limited**

On 6 July 2023 the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Jamie-Lee Cooper Limited for a consideration of £1,230,000. At the acquisition date the assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recognised at their fair values to the Group, as set out below:

	Fair value recognised
	on acquistion
	£'000
Property, plant and equipment	1,605
Trade and other receivables	6
Trade and other payables	(396)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value	1,215
Goodwill arising on acquisition	15_
Purchase consideration transferred	1,230

The purchase consideration of £1,230,000 consisted entirely of cash paid.

Acquisition costs of £64,000 are included in administrative expenses in the statement of profit and loss and in operating cash flows in the statement of cash flows.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

#### 14 Acquisitions (continued)

#### **Acquisition of Total Rail Solutions Limited**

On 16 October 2023 the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Total Rail Solutions Limited for a consideration of £2,542,000. At the acquisition date the assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recognised at their fair values to the Group, as set out below:

F	air value recognised
	on acquistion
	£'000
Property, plant and equipment	16,048
Right-of-use assets	1,537
Cash and cash equivalents	23
Trade and other receivables	2,510
Trade and other payables	(14,980)
Lease liabilities	(1,532)
Deferred tax liability	(858)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value	2,748
Gain on acquisition	(206)
Purchase consideration transferred	2,542

As a result of the acquisition, the Group recognised negative goodwill of £206,000 representing a gain on acquisition. The negative goodwill arose primarily due to the purchase consideration being less than the fair value of the assets acquired. The negative goodwill has been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income under administrative expenses.

The Group measured the acquired lease liabilities using the present value of the remaining lease payments at the date of acquisition. The right-of-use assets were measured at an amount equal to the present value of the lease liabilities. The fair value of acquired trade receivables is £1,943,000. The gross contractual amount for trade receivables due is £1,943,000, with no loss allowance recognised on acquisition.

The purchase consideration of £2,542,000 consisted entirely of cash paid.

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:  Cash consideration	<b>£'000</b> (2,542)
Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired	23
	(2,519)

Acquisition costs of £560,000 are included in administrative expenses in the statement of profit and loss and in operating cash flows in the statement of cash flows.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

15	Inventories	As at 31 December 2023 £'000	As at 31 December 2022 £'000
	Parts and consumables	547	444
	Inventories are stated after provisions for impairment of £75,000 (2022: £75,000).		
16	Current tax receivable	As at 31 December 2023 £'000	As at 31 December 2022 £'000
	Current tax receivable	1,188	1,426

# 17 Trade and other receivables

	Group		Company	
	As at 31	As at 31	As at 31	As at 31
	December	December	December	December
	2023	2022	2023	2022
	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000
Trade receivables	10,580	8,498	-	-
Amounts owed by group undertakings	-	-	1,405	68
Other receivables	1,213	1,687	210	697
Prepayments and accrued income	4,909	4,232	89	566
	16,702	14,417	1,704	1,331

The balance owed by the group undertakings is unsecured and interest free. There is no fixed date of repayment and it is repayable on demand.

# 18 Trade and other payables

		Group		Comp	any
	Note	As at 31 December 2023 £'000	As at 31 December 2022 £'000	As at 31 December 2023 £'000	As at 31 December 2022 £'000
Trade payables Amounts owed to group undertakings Other taxation and social security Other payables	27	2,942 71,569 1,121 610	2,931 42,642 438 282	147 68,439 54 8	641 46,062 26 13
Accruals and deferred income		4,470	3,747	255	72
		80,712	50,040	68,903	46,814

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

# 18 Trade and other payables (continued)

The Group amounts owed to group undertakings includes a loan from The Great Rolling Stock Company Plc of £71,569,000 (2022: £42,642,000). The loan attracts an interest rate of 5.99% and is unsecured. There is no fixed date of repayment and it is repayable on demand.

The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturities for financial liabilities.

Group As at 31 December 2023	Within one year £'000	One to five years £'000	More than five years £'000	Total £'000
Trade payables	2,942	-	-	2,942
Amounts owed to group undertakings	71,569	-	-	71,569
Other taxation and social security	1,121	-	-	1,121
Other payables	610	-	-	610
Lease liabilities	3,423	7,094	1,082	11,599
	79,665	7,094	1,082	87,841
Group	Within one	One to five	More than	
As at 31 December 2022	year £'000	years £'000	five years £'000	Total £'000
As at 31 December 2022  Trade payables	•	•	<del>-</del>	
	£'000	•	<del>-</del>	£'000
Trade payables	<b>£'000</b> 2,931	•	<del>-</del>	<b>£'000</b> 2,931
Trade payables Amounts owed to group undertakings	<b>£'000</b> 2,931 42,642	•	<del>-</del>	<b>£'000</b> 2,931 42,642
Trade payables Amounts owed to group undertakings Other taxation and social security	<b>£'000</b> 2,931 42,642 438	•	<del>-</del>	£'000 2,931 42,642 438

## 19 Provisions for other liabilities and charges

· ·	Grou	ıp	Comp	any
	As at 31 December 2023 £'000	As at 31 December 2022 £'000	As at 31 December 2023 £'000	As at 31 December 2022 £'000
Long term warranty provision	62	88		
Long term incentive plan provision	3,659	1,301	2,397	774
	3,721	1,389	2,397	774

The total warranty provision relates to a short-term and long-term element. The short-term provision is reported in note 18 and the movement on both elements is summarised below.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

# 19 Provisions for other liabilities and charges (continued)

Movements on provisions:

Group	Short term warranty provisions £'000	Long term warranty provisions £'000	Long term incentive plan provision £'000	Total £'000
At 1 January 2023	122	88	1,301	1,511
Increase in provision	29	50	2,358	2,437
Usage of provision	(84)	(76)	-	(160)
At 31 December 2023	67	62	3,659	3,788

The warranty provision is a provision for potential costs that the company is liable for to correct any defects that arise within a two year period after each project is complete. After a two year period the provision is released. Provisions due within one year are included in other payables, see note 18.

Provisions for liabilities and charges also contains £359,000 (2022: £nil) for dilapidations.

Company	Short term warranty provisions £'000	Long term warranty provisions £'000	Long term incentive plan provision £'000	Total £'000
At 1 January 2023	-	-	774	774
Increase in provision	<u> </u>	-	1,623	1,623
At 31 December 2023	<u> </u>	-	2,397	2,397

## 20 Deferred tax liabilities/(assets)

The major deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised by the company are:

	Group		Group Company		any	
	Liabilities As at 31 December 2023	Liabilities As at 31 December 2022	Assets As at 31 December 2023	Assets As at 31 December 2022		
Balances:	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000		
Accelerated capital allowances Short term timing differences Tax losses and other deductions	10,490 (861) (2,256)	4,453 (327) -	(2) (600) -	- (194) -		
	7,373	4,126	(602)	(194)		
The expected period that the above amounts will be recovered	ed is as follows:					
Within 12 months of the reporting date	(2,269)	(1)	(1)	-		
More than 12 months after the reporting date	9,642	4,127	(601)	(194)		
	7,373	4,126	(602)	(194)		

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

## 20 Deferred tax liabilities/(assets) (continued)

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised by the Group and company, and the movement thereon, during the current year and prior period.

Group	Accelerated capital allowances £'000	Short term timing differences £'000	Tax losses and other deductions £'000	Total £'000
At 1 April 2022 Charge/(credit) to the income statement for the period	3,591 862	(3) (324)	-	3,588 538
At 1 January 2023 Charge/(credit) to the income statement for the year Transfers from other Group companies	4,453 1,469 4,568	(327) (510) (24)	- (2,256)	4,126 959 2,288
At 31 December 2023	10,490	(861)	(2,256)	7,373
Company	Accelerated capital allowances £'000	Short term timing differences £'000	Tax losses and other deductions £'000	Total £'000
At 1 April 2022 Charge to the income statement for the period		194		- 194
At 1 January 2023 Credit to the income statement for the year	- (2)	(194) (406)	- -	(194) (408)
At 31 December 2023	(2)	(600)	-	(602)

#### 21 Retirement benefit schemes

	Year ended	9 months ended
	31 December	31 December
	2023	2022
Defined contribution schemes	£'000	£'000
Charge to the statement of comprehensive income in respect of defined contribution		
schemes	409	230

A defined contribution pension scheme is operated for all qualifying employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the company in an independently administered fund. Contributions of £78,000 (2022: £38,000) were payable to the fund at the balance sheet date.

## 22 Called-up share capital

	As at 31	As at 31
	December	December
	2023	2022
	£'000	£'000
Ordinary share capital		
Allotted and fully paid		
70,000 (2022: 70,000) Ordinary A shares of 1p each	1	1
26,875 (2022: 26,875) Ordinary B shares of £1 each	27	27
3,125 (2022: 2,625) Ordinary C shares of £1 each	3	3
	31	31
	31	31

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

## FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

#### 23 Financial instruments

Numerical financial instrument disclosures are set out below.

In accordance with IFRS 9, "Financial instruments", management has reviewed contracts for embedded derivatives that are required to be separately accounted for if they do not meet certain requirements set out in the standard. No such embedded derivatives were found.

	As at 31 December 2023 Book value £'000	As at 31 December 2023 Fair value £'000	As at 31 December 2022 Book value £'000	As at 31 December 2022 Fair value £'000
Fair value of current financial assets and liabilities				
Financial assets held at amortised cost:				
Trade and other receivables	1,615	1,615	765	765
Cash and cash equivalents	6,260	6,260	4,090	4,090
Other financial liabilities:				
Trade and other payables	80,712	80,712	50,040	50,040

The fair values are based on book values as due to the short term nature of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables the directors consider that there is no material difference between the book value and the fair value.

#### 24 Contingent liabilities

The company is guarantor in respect of the following group undertakings:

The Great Rolling Stock Company PLC and Angel Trains Group Limited:

Senior term and revolving credit facilities agreements of £2,447,558,000, of which £1,742,558,000 remains outstanding (2022: £2,073,044,000, of which £1,723,044,000 remained outstanding).

#### Willow Holdco 1 Limited:

Junior facility agreements of £266,000,000, of which £266,000,000 has been drawn down (2022: £325,000,000, of which £325,000,000 was drawn down).

The Great Rolling Stock Company PLC:

Bond programme for the issuance of secured guaranteed notes of £4,000,000,000, of which £607,200,000 has been drawn down (2022: £4,000,000,000, of which £665,416,000 was drawn down).

As part of the purchase agreement with the previous owner of Force One Limited, a contingent consideration has been agreed. There will additional cash payments to the previous owner of Force One Limited if the business hits EBITDA targets for the 13 months to 31 December 2023, and hits further targets for the 12 months to 31 December 2024. As at the year end the fair value of the contingent consideration was estimated to be £1,690,000.

25

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

5	Cash generated from operations		
			9 months
	On	Year ended	ended
	Group	31 December 3	
		2023	2022
		£'000	£'000
	Operating profit	4,103	3,916
	Adjustments for:		
	Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment	(117)	(212)
	Amortisation of intangible fixed assets	81	38
	Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	6,262	3,590
	Depreciation of right-of-use assets	1,945	398
	Increase in provisions	1,972	968
	Gain on acquisitions	(206)	-
	Changes in working capital:		
	Increase in inventories	(90)	_
	Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables	3,095	(1,908)
	(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables	(2,687)	2,122
	Cash generated from operations	14,358	8,912
	Cash generated from operations	14,550	0,312
			9 months
		Year ended	ended
	Company	31 December 3	31 December
		2023	2022
		£'000	£'000
	Operating loss	(2,866)	-
	Adjustments for:		
	Taxation charged	(669)	
	Dividends received	(426)	-
	Increase in provisions	1,623	-
	Changes in working capital:		
	Decrease in trade and other receivables	320	_
	Increase in trade and other payables	1,861	-
	Cash used in operations	(157)	

# 26 Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 18, cash and cash equivalents, share capital as disclosed in note 22 and retained earnings.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

#### 27 Related party transactions

During the period, the Company had the following transactions with related parties:

#### 31 December 2023

	Income/ Interest received £'000	Purchases/ Interest paid £'000	Amounts owed by related parties £'000	Amounts owed to related parties £'000
Fellow subsidiaries	2,130	(93)	1,405	(68,439)
Total	2,130	(93)	1,405	(68,439)
31 December 2022	Income/ Interest received £'000	Purchases/ Interest paid £'000	Amounts owed by related parties £'000	Amounts owed to related parties £'000
Fellow subsidiaries	142	(7)	68	(46,062)

Amounts owed to and by fellow group undertakings are unsecured, repayable on demand and conducted under business like market conditions.

142

(7)

68

(46.062)

During the year the Group repaid £4,294,000 (9 months ended 31 December 2022: £4,000,000) on its loan with The Great Rolling Stock Company Plc, a company within the wider Willow Topco Limited group of companies of which Readypower Group Limited is a part. During the year an additional loan of £30,070,000 was made to the Group by The Great Rolling Stock Company Plc. At the end of the financial period an amount of £71,569,000 (2022: £42,642,000) was outstanding and included within amounts owed to group undertakings. These amounts are unsecured, repayable on demand and conducted under business like market conditions. These amounts also attract interest as described in note 18.

#### 28 Post balance sheet events

Total

During February 2024, subsequent to the balance sheet date of 31 December 2023, the Group acquired fixed assets with a fair value of £14.3 million from Train Plant Realisations Limited (previously TXM Plant Limited), which had entered administration.

The acquisition of these fixed assets is considered a non-adjusting event as defined by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 10, "Consolidated Financial Statements." Therefore, the fair value of the acquired fixed assets has not been recognized in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Based on preliminary assessments, it is estimated that the acquisition of these fixed assets will have the following impacts on the company's financial position and performance going forward:

- Incremental depreciation expenses of approximately £2.7 million per annum, based on the estimated useful life of the acquired assets.
- Expected increase in turnover, though the exact magnitude of this impact is contingent upon market conditions and operational efficiencies.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

### 28 Post balance sheet events (continued)

These subsequent events have been evaluated up to the date of authorisation of the financial statements for issuance by the Board of Directors. The effects of these subsequent events have been disclosed to the extent practicable in accordance with the principles outlined in IAS 10, "Events after the Reporting Period.

## 29 Controlling party

The smallest group of undertakings to consolidate these financial statements is Angel Trains Group Limited with its registered office at 27 Hill Street, St Helier, JE2 4UA, Jersey.

The company's ultimate holding company, ultimate controlling party and the parent of the largest group into which the company is consolidated is Willow Topco Limited which is incorporated in Jersey. The registered office is 27 Hill Street, St Helier, JE2 4UA, Jersey.